FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/20/2020 4:08 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/21/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>989</u>26-5 (COA No. 52358-2-II)

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### NATHAN CHAVEZ,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLALLAM COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

TRAVIS STEARNS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Nathan Chavez, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review under RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Chavez seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated July 21, 2020, attached as an appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Was Mr. Chavez deprived his right to a fair trial when the trial court allowed the jury to hear highly prejudicial and irrelevant prior act evidence?
- 2. Where there is no evidence the legislature intended the free crimes doctrine to apply where an offender score exceeds the standard range only because of statutory multipliers, did the court exceed its authority by imposing an exceptional sentence based on this factor?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Mr. Chavez was a teen, he socialized with other teenagers that included Lacey Lovell. RP 369. They usually met up at a friend's house who had a trampoline, where they watched television, played games, and listened to music. RP 370.

One day, Mr. Chavez arrived at the house when only Ms. Lovell was present, waiting in her car. RP 370. They decided to go four-wheel driving on the off-road trails nearby. RP 371. After they drove for a while, Ms. Lovell stated they had sexual intercourse. RP 374. Ms. Lovell said Mr. Chavez made no threats, but she felt compelled to engage in sexual intercourse with Mr. Chavez. RP 373. Mr. Chavez stated they were romantic but denied intercourse. RP 505.

Thirteen years later, the prosecution asked the court to allow the jury at Mr. Chavez's trial for rape of a child in the third degree, child molestation in the third degree, and tampering with a witness to hear this evidence. CP 296. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For consistency, this petition uses the same psuedonyms as the Court of Appeals used for the child witnesses in its opinion. *See* App. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record is largely sequential, except for one volume. When referring to the non-sequential volume, citations will include the date of the proceedings. All other citations will be to the page number only.

Chavez engaged in a common scheme or plan to "obtain his objective of sexual intercourse with a child." CP 297. This plan included paying special attention to the complainants, before supplying them with alcohol, and then separating them from their friends. *Id.* The prosecutor argued the sexual acts "consistently" took place in his vehicle in secluded areas. *Id.* Over objection, the court permitted the prosecution to use this evidence, finding it satisfied ER 404(b). RP 8, 13. The court also found the probative value did not outweigh the prejudicial effect of the propensity evidence. RP 12.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals held that it was dubious that the prior act evidence was admissible. App. 21. However, it found the error harmless. App. 21. In this petition, Mr. Chavez asks this Court to take review of this issue.

The prosecution charged Mr. Chavez with four counts of rape of a child in the third degree, one count of child molestation in the third degree, and one count of tampering with a witness.

CP 223-27. The two complainants alleged Mr. Chavez had

sexual intercourse with them when they were fourteen and when he was an adult. *Id*.

Heather W. met Mr. Chavez at church. RP 85. She stated she reached out to him about babysitting his children. RP 89. They talked briefly about babysitting before their conversations became flirtatious. RP 90. On New Year's Eve, Heather W. left a party to meet with Mr. Chavez. RP 97. She said they drove his white Toyota sports car to a cul-de-sac where they ultimately had sexual intercourse. RP 99, 100. Heather W. stated they had intercourse two more times. The first took place in her bedroom. RP 108, 112. The third time took place at his house. RP 116-17, 125. A fourth incident took place in the back of Jesse's truck when a group of people was returning from a bonfire party. RP 181-82. Heather W. had too much to drink to remember this incident. RP 133. Two other witnesses alleged Mr. Chavez molested Heather W. while she was intoxicated and while both she and Mr. Chavez were in the back of the truck. RP 191, 333.

The government also asserted Mr. Chavez engaged in sexual intercourse with Mattie C. when she was fourteen. CP 226. Mattie C. alleged the first encounter occurred when she

returned with Mr. Chavez from a gathering at an area outside of Sequim. RP 212, 220. Mr. Chavez drove Mattie C. back to town. RP 216. She claimed that in the time between when they left Slab Camp and when everyone met in town a short time later, sexual intercourse occurred between her and Mr. Chavez. RP 220. She stated a second incident happened when she went offroad driving with Mr. Chavez. RP 229.

The jury convicted Mr. Chavez of three counts of rape of a child in the third degree, child molestation in the third degree, and tampering with a witness. RP 789-90. The jury acquitted him of one count of rape of a child. *Id.* The court imposed a sentence of 137 months, in addition to the maximum allowed community supervision. CP 67-68. The Court of Appeals found the trial court erred in sentencing Mr. Chavez and ordered this matter remanded for a new sentencing hearing. App. 1-2. However, at the resentencing hearing, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court could employ the "free crimes" doctrine to impose an exceptional sentence. App. 30.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. This Court should grant review of whether the trial court's error in allowing irrelevant and highly prejudicial prior act evidence to be heard by the jury prevented Mr. Chavez from receiving a fair trial.

Mr. Chavez asks this Court to decide whether this error prevented Mr. Chavez from receiving a fair trial. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with cases from this Court, which view admission of prior act evidence in a sex crime case as its highest level and only admissible when its purpose is clear. Because the Court of Appeals applied a lower standard, review should be granted.

At trial, the court abused its discretion when it allowed the prosecution to introduce evidence of a sexual encounter Mr. Chavez had with a person near to his age when he was in high school, about ten years before the charged allegations. Mr. Chavez committed no crime when he engaged in this sexual encounter.

Further, the similarities between the incident and the charged crimes were not so substantial they could be described as a common scheme or plan. Without sufficient evidence of a

non-propensity purpose, the prejudicial effect of the evidence required its exclusion.

This error deprived Mr. Chavez of his right to a fair trial.

To restore Mr. Chavez's right to a fair trial, he asks this Court to grant review.

a. Exclusion of unduly prejudicial evidence is particularly critical in sex offense cases.

"Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b). This Court has held that "ER 404(b) is a categorical bar to admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character." *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). "ER 404(b) forbids such inference because it depends on the defendant's propensity to commit a certain crime." *State v. Wade*, 98 Wn. App. 328, 336, 989 P.2d 576 (1999).

Even relevant evidence is excludable if its probative value substantially outweighs the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 361, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). "A careful and methodical consideration of relevance, and an intelligent weighing of potential prejudice against probative value is particularly important in sex cases, where the prejudice potential of prior acts is at its highest." Id. at 363. In cases where the charge involves a sexual act against a child, evidence of uncharged sex acts against another child strongly creates "the impression of a general propensity for pedophilia." State v. Ramirez, 46 Wn. App. 223, 227, 730 P.2d 98 (1986).

"A trial court must always begin with the presumption that evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible." *State v. DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). When determining admissibility under ER 404(b), the trial court must find the alleged misconduct occurred by a preponderance of the evidence; identify the purpose for admission; determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and weigh the probative value against its prejudicial

effect. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).

In considering whether evidence is admissible under ER 404(b), doubtful or close cases should be resolved in favor of the accused. *Wade*, 98 Wn. App. at 334. The prosecution has the burden of demonstrating the prior misconduct evidence is admissible under ER 404(b); *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 17.

"If the trial court properly analyzes the ER 404 (b) issue, its ruling is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Dawkins*, 71 Wn. App. 902, 909, 863 P.2d 124 (1993). A trial court abuses its discretion when it applies the wrong legal standard, bases its ruling on an erroneous view of the law, or otherwise fails to adhere to the requirements of an evidentiary rule. *State v. Quismundo*, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 342 (2008). Further, a court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is "outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard." *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

b. The prior act when Mr. Chavez was in high school was not part of an overarching plan, but a distinct act involving random similarities with some of the crimes charged.

The prosecution alerted the court it intended to introduce evidence of an incident from when Mr. Chavez was in high school, alleging, "the Defendant followed a consistent plan with each in order to obtain his objective of sexual intercourse with a child." CP 297. The prosecutor argued Mr. Chavez's common scheme or plan "begins with compliments and paying special attention to the victim followed by supplying the alcohol for the invariable party." *Id.* After getting the child intoxicated, "he proceeds to separate them from the pack to have sexual intercourse." *Id.* The prosecutor also argued that "[c]onsistently he violates these children in his vehicle or the vehicle of another and he tends to gravitate to Slab Camp, Hurricane Ridge, or secluded wooded areas where they are less likely to get caught." *Id.* 

To be admissible, evidence of prior sexual misconduct offered to show a common plan or scheme must be sufficiently similar to the crime with which the defendant is charged and not too remote in time. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 860, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). A common scheme or plan exists where an

accused devises a plan and repeats it to perpetrate separate but very similar crimes. *Id.* at 855. The commonalities with a prior occurrence need not be unique, but they must be "markedly and substantially similar" indicating, "the defendant has developed a plan and has again put that particular plan into action." *Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d at 422. Prior opportunistic crimes do not qualify. *State v. Slocum*, 183 Wn. App. 438, 442, 456, 333 P.3d 541 (2014).

The court allowed the prosecution to use this prior act as evidence of a common scheme or plan. RP 13. The court found the evidence adhered to a plan and was "clearly relevant" and the evidence established "a plan or design to rape." RP 11-12. The court also found the probative value outweighed any unfair prejudice. *Id*.

What happened between Mr. Chavez and Ms. Lovell ten years earlier was not similar to the charged crimes. Mr. Chavez and Ms. Lovell were teenagers in high school. RP 369. Unlike the witnesses in this case, the age difference between Mr. Chavez and M. Lovell did not make their encounter illegal. RCW 9A.44.079. And while the conduct may have occurred after Mr.

Chavez and Ms. Lovell went driving his four-wheel-drive truck, this did not make it so similar to the other incidents to be able to describe it as a common scheme or plan to have "sexual intercourse with a child." *See Slocum*, 183 Wn. App. at 455.

It also did not resemble any of the charged incidents.

There was not a significant age difference between Mr. Chavez and Ms. Lovell. And while the prosecution argued there was a common scheme by Mr. Chavez to isolate the complainants from their friends at parties, most of the incidents described at his trial did not occur that way.

None of the incidents involving Heather W. involved such a scheme. Instead, she alleged she snuck out of a New Year's party the first time, saw him at her house on the second occasion, and left her home for their third encounter. The last encounter took place in the back of a truck with other persons around.

And while the incidents involving Mattie C. may have occurred during drives from where a group got together for a party, this similarity is not so great that it can be described as a common scheme or plan. At best, it was a crime of opportunity,

distinguishable from those cases "where the defendant had a design for getting a victim physically isolated from possible witnesses." *Slocum*, 183 Wn. App. at 455. "The fact that a defendant molests victims when no one is close enough to see what is going on is too unlike a strategy for isolating a victim; it is not evidence of a plan." *Id.* 

Whatever happened between Mr. Chavez and Ms. Lovell occurred ten years before these charges. This is a significant lapse in time, which this Court should conclude eroded the commonality between the acts. *Lough*, 125 Wn.2d at 860. In addition, these acts did not have the "high level of similarity" required to qualify as a common scheme or plan. *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 19. Further, the interaction did not demonstrate "conduct created by design," and was instead an opportunistic act. *State v. Sexsmith*, 138 Wn. App. 497, 505, 157 P.3d 901 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1014 (2008).

And when the similarities do not rise to the level of a common scheme or plan, but rather demonstrates more than one opportunistic act, reversal is required. *Slocum*, 183 Wn. App. at 455. In *Slocum*, the prosecution sought to admit evidence

Slocum sexually abused the complainant's mother and aunt when they were young. *Id.* at 445-46. The trial court allowed the testimony as evidence of Slocum's "plan or design to molest children." *Id.* at 452. Admission of several of the prior incidents was manifestly unreasonable because there were insufficient similarities to the charged crime. *Id.* at 455-56. W.N. was much younger than her mother and aunt when the touching began, and W.N. alleged ongoing molestation over several years, instead of isolated incidents of her mother and aunt. *Id.* at 454. The prosecution argued the molestation always occurred when Slocum was alone with the girls and could be assured of privacy. *Id.* But the "fact that a defendant molests victims when no one is close enough to see what is going on is too unlike a strategy for isolating a victim; it is not evidence of a plan." *Id.* 

What happened between Mr. Chavez and Ms. Lovell was not rape of a child. They were both in high school. RP 369. She was sixteen and not fourteen like the witnesses in this case. RP 368. Nothing suggests Mr. Chavez pursued Ms. Lovell or took any other steps to isolate her from her friends. RP 370. They found themselves alone at a friend's house and decided to go

four-wheel driving. *Id.* Mr. Chavez did not supply Ms. Lovell with alcohol or otherwise try to reduce her inhibitions. And while Ms. Lovell testified Mr. Chavez's advances were not welcome, even this differed from the testimony of the other witnesses, who did not believe they were forced to have intercourse with Mr. Chavez. RP 160, 233.

The trial court erred in admitting this evidence. And while the Court of Appeals found this admissibility of this evidence dubious, it did not reverse Mr. Chavez's conviction, finding the error harmless. App. 22. Mr. Chavez now seeks review by this Court.

c. This Court should take review of whether this improperly admitted evidence deprived Mr. Chavez of a fair trial.

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision finding the error harmless was made in error. In determining whether improper admission of prior act evidence requires reversal, the Court of Appeals examined the strength of the other evidence. This is the wrong inquiry. Instead, this Court instructs that the inquiry is not whether there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been

different without the inadmissible evidence. *State v. Gower.* 179 Wn.2d 851, 857, 321 P.3d 1178 (2014).

The improperly admitted evidence provided a cornerstone for the prosecution's case that Mr. Chavez had a common scheme or plan to have sex with children. With no eyewitnesses to most of the incidents and multiple accounts of the remaining one, this case centered on credibility. *Gower*, 179 Wn.2d at 858. Framing Mr. Chavez, who testified, as a child rapist since he was a teenager made him appear to be a long-term danger to the community and uncut his credibility. This error deprived Mr. Chavez of his ability to defend himself because it made him look like a lifelong serial rapist. Allowing the government to focus on this prior act made it impossible for Mr. Chavez to challenge the veracity of the charges. For this reason, review should be granted.

2. This Court should grant review of whether the "free crimes" doctrine could be used to warrant an exceptional sentence.

The Court of Appeals reversed Mr. Chavez's sentence because the government presented insufficient evidence of the aggravating factor it presented, but remanded to determine whether the current sentence could be imposed under the "free crimes" doctrine. Before this matter is remanded for a new sentencing hearing, this Court should take review of whether the "free crimes" doctrine can be applied where a defendant has no prior history and where the court relies on the multiple scoring rule to impose an exceptional sentence.

When Mr. Chavez was convicted, he had no scorable history. CP 64. All of his points come from current offenses. CP 65. And rather than scoring each current offense as a single point, the legislature determined Mr. Chavez's sex offense convictions should triple score. RCW 9.94A.525(17). Without this triple scoring, Mr. Chavez's offender score would still be within the sentencing grid, with a range of 46-60 months. RCW 9.94A.510. Using the multiplier means Mr. Chavez was punished for his offenses, which were factored in when determining his offender score.

Offender Score										
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9+
	13	17.5	24	30	36	42	53	58.5		
LEVE	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	60	60
LVI	12	15-	21-	26-	31-	36-	46-	57-	-	-
T AT	+-	20	27	24	41	48	60	60	60	60
	14									

While this opinion does not seem to indicate this procedure is improper, another unpublished opinion held otherwise. In *State v. Phelps*, the Court of Appeals recognized that a trial court must weigh the use of multipliers for the "free crimes" aggravating factor because the use of a multiplier to increase a person's offender score means the offenses are being counted in a person's offender score. 2 Wn. App.2d 1051; 2018 WL 1151975, \*4 (2018) (unpublished, cited as non-binding authority under GR 14.1); *see also State v. France*, 176 Wn. App. 463, 469, 308 P.3d 812 (2013).

In *Phelps*, the Court of Appeals reversed an exceptional sentence imposed based on the "free crimes" aggravator where the defendant's offender score for taking a motor vehicle without permission was elevated to 19, largely because his prior six convictions for similar offenses counted as three points each. *Phelps*, 2018 WL 1151975 at \*3. Without the multiplier, his offender score was 6. The current offenses were punished because it was the nature of those offenses that triggered the multiplier, leaving Phelps with an offender score of 19. *Id.* at \*4.

This can be contrasted with *France*, where the defendant was convicted of nine counts of felony harassment and had six prior convictions, giving him an offender score of 15. 176 Wn.

App. at 466. The court imposed an exceptional sentence based on two aggravating factors: an officer of the court was a victim and some of the current offenses were not punished under the standard range. *Id.* at 472-73. The Court of Appeals upheld this exceptional sentence, in part because no multipliers increased the offender score and the standard range accounted for only three of the nine offenses of conviction. *Id.* 

Here, the trial court misconstrued the nature of the unpunished offenses, incorrectly believing offenses would go unpunished because Mr. Chavez's offender score exceeded nine. This misperception was based on the court's failure to understand the multiplying effect of sex offenses and the legislature's decision to increase the standard range where a person is convicted of multiple current sex offenses. But Mr. Chavez's crimes are not unpunished. Instead, with the multiple scoring aggravators, a man with no prior history is faced with a sentenct at the top of the range. This cannot be what the

legislature intended and this Court should accept review to settle the conflict between these cases and make clear the legislature did not intend for the "free crimes" doctrine to be so applied.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding, Mr. Chavez respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b).