FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/18/2020 4:50 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98926-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NATHAN A CHAVEZ,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

Court of Appeals No. 52358-2-II Clallam County Superior Court No. 17-1-00046-8

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK B. NICHOLS Prosecuting Attorney

JESSE ESPINOZA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

223 East 4th Street, Suite 11 Port Angeles, WA 98362 (360) 417-2301

SERVICE

Travis Stearns
Attorney for Petitioner
Washington Appellate Project
1511 Third Ave., Ste. 610
Seattle, WA 98101
Email: wapofficemail@washapp.org,

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE PETITIONER HAS NOT ESTABLISHED ANY OF THE CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW SET FORTH IN RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or

If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or

If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

1. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of nonconstitutional harmless error and therefore its decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court or another division of the Court of Appeals.

Chavez argues that the trial court erred by admitting evidence of his prior sexual misconduct against L.L. and that this should be reviewed. The Court of Appeals did not rule on whether the admission of such evidence was an abuse of discretion. Rather, finding the admission of the evidence to be questionable, the

Court of Appeals assumed that the admission was error to get to the next inquiry of whether such error was harmless or not.

The Court of Appeals determined that there was harmless error based upon the following inquiry:

Under the applicable nonconstitutional harmless error test, the question is whether within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred.

State v. Chavez, 2020 WL 4194604, at *9 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2020) (citing State v. Slocum, 183 Wn. App. 438, 448, 333 P.3d 541 (2014) (citing State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)).

Chavez, citing *State v. Gower*, suggests that the Court of Appeals erroneously applied the nonconstitutional harmless error by looking at the strength of other evidence in the case. Br. of Petitioner at 15–16 (citing *State v. Gower*, 179 Wn.2d 851, 857, 321 P.3d 1178 (2014)). The assertion that the Court is *not* to examine the strength of other evidence in the case when determining whether error was harmless is incorrect.

Gower referring to State v. Gresham simply clarified that harmless error is not found based on sufficiency of the evidence to support a jury verdict, but rather, that the "question is whether there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different without the inadmissible evidence." Gower, 179 Wn.2d at 857 (citing State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433–34, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)). Additionally, the Gower Court did examine the strength of the admissible evidence in the case and determined that the case was a credibility

case since the sole witness only corroborated the aftermath of one incident and not the incident itself. *Gower*, 179 Wn.2d at 858.

Here, unlike in *Gower*, the Court of Appeals found that this case was not just a credibility contest between accuser and defendant and that the testimonies of the two victims were supported by *substantial* corroborative evidence from multiple witnesses, eye witnesses to count IV, corroborating evidence by Chavez' brother, Deputy Stoppani's interaction with Chavez before one of the rape incidents, and witness tampering. *Chavez*, 2020 WL 4194604, at *8.

Therefore, because the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review for nonconstitutional harmless error, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court or another division of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, this Court should decline review of this issue.

2. The *Chavez* Court's decision does not conflict with a published decision of another division of the Court of Appeals and the *Chavez* Court properly determined that the trial court could impose an exceptional sentence based upon the free crimes doctrine.

Chavez cites to an unreported decision in *State v. Phelps* to support his argument that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with a decision from another division of the Court of Appeals in regards to the free crimes sentencing doctrine. *State v. Phelps*, 2018 WL 1151975, at *4 (Wn. App. Div. 1, 2018) (unpublished).

State v. Phelps is an unpublished decision. "Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals have no precedential value and are not binding on any court."

Gr 14.1. Because *Phelps* has no precedential value and is not binding, it does not

present any conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in *Chavez*. There is no conflict of authority that this Court needs to resolve. Moreover, as stated by the *Chavez* court, *Phelps* is distinguishable. *Chavez*, 2020 WL 4194604, at *12.

Chavez also argues without citing to any legislative history that legislature could not have intended the free crimes aggravating factor to serve as a basis for an exceptional sentence when an offender score surpasses nine because of scoring multipliers. Contrary to this argument, legislative history and case law shows that in 1990 legislature intended to increase the punishment of sex crimes by scoring three points for felony sex crimes, and then, in 2005, to make the free crimes doctrine available as justification for exceptional sentences for multiple current sex offense convictions.

Legislature amended the scoring scheme for sex crimes in 1990 by assigning three points for each prior sex offense conviction to be included in a defendant's offender score. *See State v. Parker*, 132 Wn.2d 182, n.10, 937 P.2d 575 (1997); Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 706(17) (statutory multiplier for sex crimes).

Fifteen years later, after the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Blakely*, legislature amended RCW 9.94A.535 to codify the free crimes doctrine. *See State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 656–58, 254 P.3d 803 (2011) (citing *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 301, 313–14, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004); other citations omitted); Laws of 2005, ch. 68, § 3; RCWA 9.94A.535(2)(c) (2006) ("The trial court may impose an aggravated exceptional sentence without a finding of fact by a jury under the following circumstances: . . . The defendant has

committed multiple current offenses and the defendant's high offender score results in some of the current offenses going unpunished.").

Washington Courts presume that "the legislature enacts laws 'with full knowledge of existing laws." *Maziar v. Washington State Dept. of Corrections*, 183 Wn.2d 84, 88, 349 P.3d 826 (2015) (quoting *Thurston County v. Gorton*, 85 Wn.2d 133, 138, 530 P.2d 309 (1975)). Further, "[w]here the meaning of statutory language is plain on its face, [courts] must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *State v. Alvarado*, 164 Wn.2d 556, 562, 192 P.3d 345 (2008) (citing *City of Spokane v. Spokane County*, 158 Wn.2d 661, 673, 146 P.3d 893 (2006); *Koenig v. City of Des Moines*, 158 Wn.2d 173, 181, 142 P.3d 162 (2006) (holding that plain language does not require construction)).

Legislature made it clear in 1990 that sex crimes shall never score as one point but should score as three points in order to increase punishment for sex crimes. There is nothing suggesting legislature forgot about the multiplier for sex offense offender scores when it amended RCW 9.94A.535 in 2006 to codify the free crimes doctrine. The statutory language is plain on its face and does not require construction. Yet, Chavez's argument, in order to apply the free crimes doctrine to multiple current sex offenses, would require that prior sex offenses be counted as something other than the legislatively required three points.

Furthermore, Washington Courts have upheld sentences using the free crimes doctrine in the past where statutory multipliers increased a defendant's offender score. *See generally State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011) (defendant's convictions of five counts of second degree rape and one

count of second degree kidnapping together with to prior out of state robbery convictions resulting in an offender score of 16); *State v. Stephens*, 116 Wn.2d 238, 239, 803 P.2d 319 (1991) *overruled in part in State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 140, 110 P.3d 192 (2005) (eight counts of burglaries and other prior convictions resulting in a score of 19 and exceptional sentence based upon free crimes doctrine; each burglary counted as 2 points).²

The Court of Appeals did not error in ruling that the trial court could properly impose an exceptional sentence upward based upon the free crimes doctrine. Furthermore, the legislative intended to increase the punishment for sex offenses because it codified the free crimes doctrine with full knowledge of the existing statute assigning three points for each prior sex offense.

Therefore, this Court should decline to review the issue of whether an exceptional sentence may be imposed under the free crimes doctrine when an offender score greater than nine results from scoring three points for each current sex offense leaving one or more offense unpunished.

VI. CONCLUSION

State v. Gower, does not hold that a reviewing court is not to consider the remaining evidence when determining whether error in admitting prior sexual misconduct evidence is harmless. 179 Wn.2d 851, 857, 321 P.3d 1178 (2014). Thus, the Chavez Court's decision does not conflict with Gower because it properly found harmless error after considering the remaining admissible evidence.

14

² The statutory offender score multiplier for burglary has existed at least since 1983. *See* Laws of 1983, ch. 115, § 7(4).

Further, the Chavez Court's decision does not conflict with any published

decision in regards to the application of the free crimes doctrine under RCW

9.94A.535(2)(c). Therefore, review of this case is not needed to resolve a conflict

between binding authorities. Moreover, it is clear that legislature intended the free

crimes doctrine to apply when multiple current felony sex offenses result in a high

offender score leaving one or more crimes unpunished because it was fully aware

of the offender score multiplier for sex offenses when it codified the free crimes

doctrine in RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c).

For the foregoing reasons, review of the Court of Appeals decision is not

warranted under RAP 13.4(b). The State respectfully requests that the Court deny

Chavez's Petition for Review.